
AB
EMPLOYMENT COMMITTEE

THURSDAY 3 DECEMBER 2015
7.00 PM

Bourges/Viersen Rooms - Town Hall

AGENDA
Page No

1. Apologies for Absence

2. Declarations of Interest

At this point Members must declare whether they have a disclosable 
pecuniary interest, or other interest, in any of the items on the agenda, 
unless it is already entered in the register of members’ interests or is a 
“pending notification” that has been disclosed to the Solicitor to the Council. 

3. Minutes of the Meeting Held on 17 September 2015 3 - 6

4. Exclusion of the Press and Public

In accordance with Standing Orders, Members are asked to determine 
whether item 6, ‘Terms and Conditions of Service – Agenda for Change’, 
which contains information relating to contemplated consultations or 
negotiations in connection with a labour relations matter arising between the 
authority and employees or office holders of the authority, as defined by 
Paragraph 4 of Schedule 12A of Part 1 of the Local Government Act 1972, 
should be exempt and the press and public excluded from the meeting when 
this item is discussed, or whether the public interest in disclosing this 
information outweighs the public interest in maintaining the exemption.

5. Changes to Employee Policies and Procedures 7 - 20

6. Terms and Conditions of Service - Agenda for Change 21 - 26

There is an induction hearing loop system available in all meeting rooms.  Some of the 
systems are infra-red operated, if you wish to use this system then please contact 
Philippa Turvey on 01733 452460 as soon as possible.

Emergency Evacuation Procedure – Outside Normal Office Hours

In the event of the fire alarm sounding all persons should vacate the building by way of the nearest escape 
route and proceed directly to the assembly point in front of the Cathedral.  The duty Beadle will assume 
overall control during any evacuation, however in the unlikely event the Beadle is unavailable, this 
responsibility will be assumed by the Committee Chair.

Public Document Pack



Committee Members:

Councillors: M Nadeem (Chairman), J Holdich (Vice Chairman), W Fitzgerald, N Khan, Thulbourn, 
C W Swift and N Sandford

Substitutes: Councillors: D Lamb, Forbes, B Saltmarsh and Davidson

Further information about this meeting can be obtained from Philippa Turvey on telephone 01733 
452460 or by email – philippa.turvey@peterborough.gov.uk



AB
MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE EMPLOYMENT COMMITTEE

HELD AT THE TOWN HALL, PETERBOROUGH ON 17 SEPTEMBER 2015

Members Present: Councillors Nadeem (Chair), Holdich (Vice-Chair), Fitzgerald, Khan, Swift, 
Sandford and Forbes

Officers Present: Kim Sawyer, Director of Governance
Paul Smith, Human Resources Advisor
Karen Craig, Policy and Reward Team Leader
Pippa Turvey, Senior Democratic Services Officer

Also Present: Mark Burn, Unison Representative

1. Apologies for Absence

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Thulbourn. Councillor Forbes was in 
attendance as substitute.

2. Declarations of Interest

There were no declarations of interest.

3. Minutes of the Meeting Held on 22 July 2015

The minutes of the meeting held on 22 July 2015 were agreed as a true and accurate record.

4. Changes to Employee Policies and Procedures

The Policy and Reward Team Leader presented a report to the Committee following 
agreement from members of the Joint Consultative Forum and Education Consultative and 
Negotiating Forum.

The report sought the Committee’s approval for a number of employment policies and 
procedures for centrally employed teachers. These included the Teacher’s Pay Policy, 
Teacher’s Appraisal Policy, and the Teacher’s Capability Process.

 
A motion was proposed and seconded to approve the policies and procedures as set out in 
the report. This motion was carried unanimously.

RESOLVED that Employment Committee agreed to implement the following employment 
policy and procedures for centrally employed teachers:

1) Teacher’s Pay Policy (Appendix 1);
2) Teacher’s Appraisal Policy (Appendix 2); and
3) Teacher’s Capability Process (Appendix 3)

Reasons for the decision:

These proposed changes are to ensure the Council operates within the School Teachers’ 
Pay and Conditions Document 2015.    

5. Shared Chief Executive Arrangements Between Peterborough City Council and 
Cambridgeshire County Council

3



The Chairman advised that the Chief Executive was not present at the meeting, as the 
contents of the report reflected a conflict of interest. The Chief Executive had, however, 
been engaged with the process throughout. 

The Human Resources Advisor presented a report to the Committee following an approach 
made by Cambridgeshire County Council to Peterborough City Council of exploring the 
possibility of a shared Chief Executive arrangement, following the resignation of the Chief 
Executive at Cambridgeshire County Council. 

The report sought for the Committee to recommend that Council approved the shared 
arrangements and enters into an agreement with Cambridgeshire County Council for a 
shared Chief Executive.

The Committee discussed the report and raised several key points:
 Discussions had been held throughout the process with Group Leaders. The Leader 

of Cambridgeshire County Council had also been involved in talks.
 The agreement was for a 12 month trial with 6 month review, at which point the 

Council could leave the arrangement if it wished. 
 There would be sufficient support structures in place at Peterborough City Council 

through the Corporate Management Team. Cambridgeshire County Council would 
be appointing a Deputy Chief Executive, as part of a succession planning scheme.

 The Chief Executive had refused an increase in salary, as such providing 
Peterborough City Council with a saving of £110,000. 

 As salary costs were to be split 50/50 between the two authorities, it was questioned 
whether Peterborough City Council was receiving value for money. This was a 
matter that would be monitored throughout the trial process.

 The Chief Executive would maintain legal and statutory responsibility within 
Peterborough City Council and would manage her time in order to remain 
contactable.

 It was advised that train was her preferred option of travel between Peterborough 
and Cambridgeshire.

The Unison Representative was reassured that Cambridgeshire County Council was 
making succession plans, and reiterated that Local Authorities should work collaboratively. 
It was questioned how the proposal would affect the transformation of Adult Social Care 
commissioning in Peterborough City Council. A Committee Member advised that the 
proposals would provide a more strategic oversight and would align the two Councils’ 
commissioning programmes to achieve best value.

Concerns were raised about the possibility of a shared Chief Executive arrangement leading 
towards devolution arrangements with Cambridgeshire County Council. Cabinet Members 
on the Committee gave assurances that there was no intention to do so, and that any such 
matter would be an issue for Council. It was further suggested that shared work was more 
likely with authorities to the north of the region. An expression of Interest had been 
submitted to the Department for Communities and Local Government. However, it was 
advised that this was only an expression of interest and that no discussions had taken place.

A motion was proposed and seconded that the officer recommendation be agreed. This 
motion was carried unanimously.

RESOLVED that Employment Committee:

1) Note the proposal made by Cambridgeshire County Council; and
2) Recommends to Council that it approves the shared arrangements and enters into 

an agreement with Cambridgeshire County Council for a shared Chief Executive.  

Reasons for the decision:

4



This paper deals with the benefits of this arrangement in terms of joint working/sharing best 
practice, but also addresses the challenges for ensuring the Chief Executive works 
effectively across both Councils ensuring the sovereignty of those Council’s policies are 
robustly maintained.

Chairman
                                                                                                                            7:00pm – 7:42pm

5



This page is intentionally left blank

6



EMPLOYMENT COMMITTEE AGENDA ITEM No. 5

3 DECEMBER 2015 PUBLIC REPORT

Cabinet Member(s) responsible: Cllr Seaton, Cabinet Member for Resources 

Contact Officer(s): Mandy Pullen,  Assistant Director Human 
Resources

Tel.  (01733) 384500

CHANGES TO EMPLOYEE POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

R E C O M M E N D A T I O N S
FROM: Trade Union Representatives Deadline date : N.A.

It is recommended that Employment Committee agrees to implement the following employment 
policy and procedures.

i) Smoke Free Policy (Appendix 1);
ii) Adoption Policy (Appendix 2)

1. ORIGIN OF REPORT

1.1 This report is submitted to the Employment Committee following agreement from 
members of the Joint Consultative Forum.

2. PURPOSE AND REASON FOR REPORT

2.1 The purpose of this report is to ensure that the Council maintains up to date and legal 
employment policies.

2.2 This report is for the Committee to consider under its Terms of Reference No. 2.3.1.2 
‘to determine employee procedures, including dismissal procedures’ and 2.3.1.4 ‘to 
determine local terms and conditions of employment for employees’. 

3. TIMESCALE 

Is this a Major Policy 
Item/Statutory Plan?

NO If Yes, date for relevant 
Cabinet Meeting

N/A

4.      BACKGROUND

Smoke Free Policy

4.1 The Smoke Free policy required updating to take account of statutory changes and 
also to incorporate information about electronic cigarettes.  The policy remains the 

7



same, that there should be no smoking at all on council property and that any smoking 
break taken is unpaid.  The document also signposts employees that do want to give 
up smoking to internal and external sources of help and support. 

Adoption Scheme

4.2 The adoption scheme has been amended to ensure that employees on adoption leave 
receive equity with employees on maternity leave.  As an organisation that has 
responsibility for the fostering and adoption of children and young people it is important 
that we support appropriately our own staff who take adoption leave.  The proposal is 
that eligible staff will receive 6 weeks full pay as Occupational Adoption Pay if they 
return to work for at least three months following the adoption leave.  This is the same 
entitlement as that payable to women on maternity leave.    

5. CONSULTATION

5.1 The joint trade unions were consulted on both policies at the Joint Consultative Forum 
meeting on 15 October 2015. 

6. ANTICIPATED OUTCOMES

6.1 Implementation of the Smoke Free policy will ensure that the employees are fully 
aware of the expectations placed on them in respect of smoking at work. 

6.2 Agreement to the Adoption policy will result in complete equity for staff taking either 
maternity or adoption leave.

7. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS

7.1 These proposed changes are to ensure the Council operates within relevant 
employment legislation and is forward thinking in respect of its approach to the needs 
of its employees.    

8. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED

8.1 The previous adoption policy did not allow for occupational adoption pay.  Having 
considered our position this no longer seemed appropriate.  It was also not in 
accordance with the council priorities in respect of children.

   
9. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

Used to prepare this report, in accordance with the Local Government (Access to Information) 
Act 1985).

 Paternity and Adoption leave amendment regulations 2014
 Paternity and Adoption leave regulations 2002
 Smoke Free (Premises and Enforcement) Regulation 2006
 Smoke-free (Exemptions and Vehicles) Regulations 2007

 10. APPENDICES

 Smoking Policy (Appendix 1)
 Adoption Scheme (Appendix 2)

8



APPENDIX 1

SMOKE FREE POLICY

1.0 Introduction
Peterborough City Council (PCC) recognises that the health, safety and welfare of 
employees, clients, contractors and anyone else directly affected by the council's operations 
are of prime importance. The council has therefore developed and enforces a dedicated 
smoke free policy, conforming to the requirements of the Smoke Free (Premises and 
Enforcement) Regulation 2006.

This policy applies to anyone entering a Peterborough City Council owned or controlled 
building, the home of a client, or whilst operating or using a vehicle for work purposes.  It 
should be read in conjunction with any site specific smoke free requirements.

2.0 Purpose 
The purpose of this policy is to ensure that all Council Members, Employees, Contractors, 
Workers, Visitors, and Members of the Public are fully aware and understand the standards 
of conduct and behaviour expected of them in respect of smoking.  

3.0 Key Principles

 At no time is smoking permitted anywhere on PCC owned or controlled premises which 
are enclosed or substantially enclosed as defined by the Health Act 2006 or near to 
premises entrances. The only exceptions to this are:

o Clients within certain Residential Homes and only then in authorised areas, and 
not in any way that necessitates employees being exposed to second-hand 
tobacco smoke.

 Smoking is not permitted when a Council employee is undertaking official business 
unless on official breaks.

 Smoking is not permitted in PCC owned or leased vehicles whether as a driver or 
passenger.

 Smoking is not permitted in a PCC employee’s own vehicle whilst it is being used for 
official Council business (for which the council reimburses the employee’s expenses), 
whilst accompanied by other persons.  This will ensure that non-smokers are not 
subjected unwillingly to tobacco smoke whilst travelling on official Council business.

 From 1 October 2015, drivers are banned from smoking, or allowing smoking, in private 
cars carrying children under the age of 18. Any failure to comply will amount to a criminal 
offence under the amended Smoke-free (Exemptions and Vehicles) Regulations 2007 
(SI 765/2007).

 The principles of this policy also apply when workers are undertaking official business 
whilst at non PCC owned or controlled premises.

 Smoking breaks must always be taken off site, in a smoking area and not in the 
presence or view of service users.

 Additional time off to smoke is not provided. Smoking may only take place during 
authorised breaks, and only in suitable areas. Time taken must be deducted from the 
working hours for that day.  All smoking breaks are unpaid.

 The Council recognises that it is a client’s right to smoke in their own home, although it 
also has duties to its employees in that this is an environment in which employees are 

H
um

an
 R

es
ou

rc
es

9



APPENDIX 1

potentially at risk from the harmful effects of second hand smoke.  Staff should use their 
discretion and, where appropriate and practical, request that a client and anyone else 
present during a visit refrains from smoking whilst work is carried out.  If the visit to a 
client’s home is an extended visit, the employee may request that a smoke free 
environment is provided for them to work in for the duration of their visit.

4.0 Assistance for employees to give up smoking
PCC recognises the difficulty that employees who wish to give up smoking may face. The 
organisation's occupational health service can offer guidance and information and the 
Employee Assistance Programme can offer support to help smokers to give up. Other 
services that are available nationally include;

• Peterborough Health and Social Care Team:

Contact Telephone Number: 0800 376 56 55
Twitter: @PeterboroughCC
Facebook: Peterborough City Council

• Visit ASH (Action on Smoking and Health) www.ash.org.uk or Camquit 
www.camquit.nhs.uk

• Local GP practice, pharmacy or hospital.

5.0 Electronic Cigarettes
This policy applies to all forms of smoking including the use of electronic cigarettes ("e-
cigarettes") in the workplace.  The council understands that some employees may use e-
cigarettes, particularly as an aid to giving up smoking. E-cigarettes are battery-powered 
products that release a visible vapour that contains liquid nicotine that is inhaled by the user.

Although they fall outside the scope of smoke-free legislation, the council prohibits the use of 
e-cigarettes in the workplace. E-cigarettes are included under the definition of ‘smoking’ 
throughout this policy.  The council’s rationale for a ban on e-cigarettes is that:

 although they do not produce smoke, e-cigarettes produce a vapour that could 
provide an annoyance or health risk to other employees; 

 some e-cigarette models can, particularly from a distance, look like real cigarettes, 
making a smoking ban difficult to enforce, and creating an impression for visitors, 
clients and other employees that it is acceptable to smoke.

6.0 Residential and other trips 
Whilst accompanying service users on residential trips or days out employees are only able 
to:-

 smoke on their breaks,
 which must be off site or 
 in a smoking area, and
 Not in the presence of service users.

7.0 Non-compliance
Breaches of this policy by any employee will be dealt with under the Council’s Disciplinary 
Policy and Procedure and, in serious cases, may be treated as gross misconduct leading to 
summary dismissal.

Smoking in smoke free premises or vehicles is also a criminal offence and may result in a 
fixed penalty fine and/or prosecution.  

Clients who are smoking in smoke-free areas should be reminded of the no- smoking signs 
and asked to stop. If a client continues to smoke, employees should explain that the client is 
committing a criminal offence and will not be served if he/she continues to do so. If the client 

10

http://www.ash.org.uk/
http://www.camquit.nhs.uk/


APPENDIX 1

still refuses to stop smoking, staff should ask the client to leave the 
premises and, where relevant, direct him/her to where he/she can smoke. 

11



This page is intentionally left blank

12



APPENDIX 2

ADOPTION SCHEME 

1.0 Purpose 
This is to enable employees to understand their entitlements to leave and pay when adopting 
a child or children from the UK or overseas.

This applies to all employees regardless of their status or length of service.  

This document does not form part of any employee’s contract of employment.  It may be 
amended from time to time.

2.0 Definitions
Adoption Leave is available where an employee has been notified of being matched with a 
child on or after 5th April 2015 or where a child has been placed with them for adoption on or 
after this date. Where a couple are adopting jointly they must decide which one of them will 
take adoption leave and which one will take paternity leave (adoption) or shared paternity 
leave (adoption).  

Provided they meet the eligibility criteria, parents who have a child through surrogacy will be 
permitted to take ordinary paternity leave and pay; adoption leave and pay and shared 
parental leave and pay. 

Adoption from overseas is the adoption of a child who enters Great Britain (GB) from outside 
the United Kingdom (UK) in connection with, or for the purpose of, adoption. Adoption leave 
and pay is not available to employees if they have not been assessed and approved (i.e. those 
who have not received official notification as detailed below). 

3.0 Key Principles
To be eligible for Adoption leave (AdL) an employee must: 

 Be the child’s adopter 

In addition, for an adoption of a child from the UK the employee must: 
 have been matched with a child to be placed with them by a UK adoption agency 

(Including Fostering for Adoption placements under s.22C of the Children Act 1989.)
 have notified the adoption agency that they agree that the child should be placed with 

them and have agreed on the date of placement 
 notify the Council of when they want to take their adoption leave within 7 days of the 

date on which they are notified of having been matched with the child 

In addition, for an adoption of a child from overseas the employee must: 

 have received an official notification – i.e. written notification that the authority is 
prepared to issue a certificate (or has issued a certificate) confirming that the adopter 
is eligible to adopt and has been assessed and approved as being a suitable adoptive 
parent 

 have complied with the notification procedures 
 have informed the council of the date official notification was received and the date the 

child is expected to enter Great Britain. This must be within 28 days of receiving 
notification of the date

H
um

an
 R

es
ou

rc
es

13



APPENDIX 2

 give notice of the chosen date for the adoption leave to begin – which must be 28 days 
prior to the start date for the leave 

 give notice of the date on which the child enters Great Britain – which must be given 
no later than 28 days after the date of entry 

 provide the council with a copy of the official notification together with the evidence of 
the date of entry into Great Britain. 

There is an entitlement to only one period of adoption leave for each placement regardless of 
the number of children placed. 

4.0 Time off for Appointments
Where an employee has been notified of being matched with a child on or after 5th April 2015 
or where a child has been placed with them for adoption on or after this date, the main adopter 
will be eligible to take paid time off for up to five adoption appointments.  The secondary 
adopter will be entitled to take unpaid time off for up to two appointments.

Parents who have a child through surrogacy will be entitled to take unpaid time off to attend 
two antenatal appointments with the woman carrying the child.

5.0 Adoption Leave
An employee who adopts a child through an approved adoption agency is entitled to up to 52 
weeks' adoption leave.

The employee's entitlement is to take up to 26 weeks' ordinary adoption leave followed 
immediately by up to 26 weeks' additional adoption leave. 

All employees who take adoption leave have the right to return to work at any time during 
either ordinary adoption leave or additional adoption leave, subject to their following the correct 
notification procedures as set out below.

The employee can choose to start their adoption leave on: 

 The date the child is placed for adoption, or 

 a predetermined date, no more than 14 days before the date the child is expected to 
be placed, and no later than the expected date of placement. The date may be 
changed providing 28 days’ notice of the change is given to the Council. Where this is 
not possible, it must be given as soon as is reasonably practicable. 

An Adoption Leave Request form is available on InSite for this purpose 

To make administration as easy as possible, the employee should discuss the timing of his/her 
adoption leave with his/her immediate manager as early as possible.

6.0 Adoption Pay
Employees will be eligible for statutory adoption pay (SAP) if:

 they have worked continuously for PCC for at least 26 weeks by the week they were matched 
with a child

 they earn on average at least £112 a week before tax
 they give the correct notice
 they provide proof of the adoption

SAP is payable at 90% of the employee's normal weekly earnings for the first six weeks, the 
remaining leave is paid at the prescribed rate which is set by the Government for the relevant 
tax year or the earnings-related rate if this is lower. 

SAP is treated as earnings and is therefore subject to PAYE and national insurance 
deductions.

14



APPENDIX 2

SAP entitlement depends on average weekly earnings in the ‘relevant period’.  The relevant 
period is the eight weeks before the matching week.  The end of the relevant period is the last 
normal pay day on or before the Saturday of the matching week.

If an employee is not eligible for SAP then form SAP1 will be issued which explains why SAP 
cannot be paid. 

SAP will cease if the employee is taken into legal custody or dies. If the placement of the child 
is disrupted then the SAP will end 8 weeks after the end of the week in which the disruption 
occurred. 

SAP is not payable in any week in which an employee is entitled to SSP. 

7.0 Occupational Adoption Pay (OAP)
Employees who have completed 1 year’s continuous local government service at the 
beginning of the 11th week prior to the date of adoption (the matching week) are entitled to 
additional benefits under the Peterborough City Council OAP scheme. 

The total of SAP and OAP should not exceed normal full pay, regardless of the option taken 
below, or when the payment is made. 

Employees can choose from one of the following options in addition to their SAP:- 

 Option A: 12 weeks at half salary paid during Weeks 7-18; OR 
 Option B: 06 weeks full pay paid in a lump sum on return from adoption leave 

In order to claim OAP the employee must provide written notification of their intention to return 
to work at Peterborough City Council after their adoption leave. A sample form is attached at 
Appendix A. This form will be sent to all qualifying employees by HR Support.  Although there 
is no specified date by which this notification should be given, payment of OAP will only be 
made when the employee feels able to make an informed decision to return. 

OAP shall be paid only on the understanding that the employee will return to employment at 
the Council for a period of at least three months following their adoption leave. 

If an employee decides not to return to work, payments during the subsequent 20 weeks will 
be paid at the SAP rate only and if any OAP was claimed then the total sum of OAP is 
refundable to the Council. In such circumstances, the line manager must be informed 
immediately, and arrangements made to reimburse the sum in full.  

Payments made to the employee by way of SAP are not refundable. OAP will not be payable 
to the partner of the employee where shared parental leave is being taken.

Definition of a week’s pay:
 A week’s pay for employees whose remuneration for normal working hours does not vary 

with the amount of work done in the period is the normal week’s pay. 
 Where there are no normal working hours a week’s pay is the average remuneration in the 

period of 12 weeks preceding the date on which the last complete week ended, excluding 
any week in which no remuneration was earned. 

If an employee becomes eligible for a pay rise before the end of their adoption leave they will 
be treated for OAP purposes as if the pay rise had applied throughout the relevant period.  
This means that OAP will be recalculated and increased retrospectively.  In those 
circumstances arrangements should be made for the employee to be paid a lump sum to make 
up the difference between any OAP already paid and the amount payable by virtue of the pay 
rise.  Any future OAP payments at the earnings related rate (if any) will also be increased as 
necessary. 

8.0 Notice Requirements
To be entitled to take adoption leave and receive SAP, the employee is required to give the 
Council written notification of his/her intention to take adoption leave no later than seven days 

15



APPENDIX 2

after the date on which notification of the match with the child was provided by the adoption 
agency. Notice, which must be in writing, must specify the date the child is expected to be 
placed with the employee for adoption and the date the employee intends his/her adoption 
leave to start.

The employee is permitted to bring forward his/her adoption leave start date, provided that 
he/she advises the Council in writing at least 28 days before the new start date or, if that is 
not possible, as soon as reasonably practicable. The employee may also postpone his/her 
adoption leave start date, provided that he/she advises the Council in writing at least 28 days 
before the original proposed start date or, if that is not possible, as soon as reasonably 
practicable. The employee must also provide evidence of entitlement to adoption leave and 
pay by producing a "matching certificate" from the adoption agency.

Within 28 days of receiving the employee's notice of intention to take adoption leave, the 
Council will write to the employee confirming the latest date on which the employee must 
return to work after adoption leave.

9.0. Adoption Support Leave

Adoption Support leave is a contractual entitlement, to help your partner or spouse look after 
a child placed in your care at or around the time the child is placed with the family.  
Eligible employees may take one weeks’ paid leave at or around the time of the placement.  
This will be classed as week one of any Ordinary Paternity Leave (Adoption) taken (see para 
10 below).

Requests should be submitted in writing using the Adoption Support Leave Request Form to 
the Line Manager at least 28 days before the leave is due to commence.  
It is understood that in the event of early, emergency placement it may not be possible to 
give notice. 

10.0 Ordinary Paternity Leave (Adoption)
Ordinary paternity leave (OPL) is also available to adoptive parents where a child is matched 
or newly placed with them for adoption. Either the adoptive father or the adoptive mother may 
take ordinary paternity leave where the other adoptive parent has elected to take adoption 
leave. 

The employee must have 26 weeks' continuous service by the week in which the child's 
adopter is notified of having been matched with the child for adoption.

To qualify for ordinary paternity leave, the employee must also have, or expect to have, 
responsibility for the upbringing of the child and be making the request to help care for the 
child or to support the child's mother.

Ordinary paternity leave is granted in addition to an employee's normal annual leave 
entitlement. Ordinary paternity leave must be taken in a single block of one or two weeks 
within eight weeks of the adoption of the child. Ordinary paternity leave can start either from 
the date the child is placed for adoption or from a chosen number of days or weeks after that 
date.

There is an entitlement to only one period of paternity leave regardless of the number of 
children placed at any one time.

The employee must give written notice of his/her intention to take ordinary paternity leave no 
later than seven days after the date on which notification of the match with the child was given 
by the adoption agency. The notice must specify the date the child is expected to be placed 
for adoption, the date the employee intends to start ordinary paternity leave, the length of the 
intended ordinary paternity leave period and the date on which the adopter was notified of 
having been matched with the child.

16



APPENDIX 2

If an employee subsequently wishes to change the timing of the ordinary paternity leave, 
he/she must give 28 days' written notice of the new dates. The employee must also, if so 
requested, complete and sign a self-certificate declaring that he/she is entitled to ordinary 
paternity leave and ordinary statutory paternity pay.

Pay during ordinary paternity leave will be at a rate set by the Government for the relevant tax 
year, or at 90% of the employee's average weekly earnings, if this figure is lower than the 
Government's set weekly rate. However, employees whose average weekly earnings are 
below the lower earnings limit for national insurance contributions will not be eligible for 
ordinary statutory paternity pay.

Statutory paternity pay is treated as earnings and is therefore subject to PAYE and national 
insurance deductions.

Statutory paternity pay can start from any day of the week in accordance with the date the 
employee starts his/her paternity leave.

The Employee should complete the Paternity Leave Request form available on Insite, 
(further documentary evidence may be requested from your line manager). 

If a disruption occurs after the child has been placed the employee will be entitled to 
paternity leave and SPP as planned.

SPP is not payable in any week in which an employee is entitled to SSP.  SPP is not 
refundable if the employee does not return to work following Adoption leave.

11.0 Ordinary Parental Leave
Ordinary Parental Leave is available where an employee has been notified of being matched 
with a child on or after 5th April 2015 or where a child has been placed with them for adoption 
on or after this date.

To qualify for ordinary parental leave an employee must have completed at least one year’s 
continuous service with the Council.

"Ordinary parental leave" should not be confused with shared parental leave. 

Qualifying employees will be entitled to a maximum of 18 weeks' parental leave to be taken 
up until the child's eighteenth birthday. 

Conditions of "ordinary" parental leave
An employee may not exercise any entitlement to parental leave unless he/she has complied 
with any request made by the Council to produce evidence as to: 

 his/her entitlement (eg parental responsibility or expected responsibility for the child in 
question; 

 the child's date of birth or date on which placement for adoption began; 

 or, where the employee is exercising a right in relation to a disabled child, details of 
the child's entitlement to disability living allowance or personal independence 
payment).

Where the parental leave is in respect of an adopted child and is to begin on the date of the 
placement, the employee's notice must be given to the Council at least 21 days before the 
beginning of the week in which the child is to be placed for adoption, or as soon as is 
reasonably practicable thereafter. It must specify the week in which the placement is expected 
to occur and the duration of the period of parental leave requested.

The Council may postpone a period of parental leave (other than where parental leave has 
been requested immediately after placement for adoption) where the Council considers that 
its business would be unduly disrupted if the employee were to take leave during the period 

17



APPENDIX 2

requested. In such a case, the Council will allow the employee to take an equivalent period of 
parental leave beginning no later than six months after the commencement of the period 
originally requested. The Council will give notice in writing of the postponement stating the 
reason for it and specifying suggested dates for the employee to take parental leave. Such 
notice will be given no more than seven days after the employee's notice was given to the 
Council.

Employees may not take parental leave in blocks of less than one week (except in relation to 
a child who is disabled).

Employees may not take more than four weeks' leave in respect of any individual child in any 
year. For these purposes a year is the period of 12 months beginning when the employee first 
becomes entitled to parental leave in respect of the child in question, and each successive 
period of 12 months beginning on the anniversary of that date.

12.0 Disruption to Placement
Where after starting their leave an employee is notified that the child will not be placed, or after 
the child is placed the child dies or is returned to the Adoption Agency, the employee will not 
be entitled to the full adoption leave period or SAP if payment is being made. In this situation 
adoption leave will end 8 weeks after the end of the week in which the disruption occurred. 
SAP will end 8 weeks after the end of the week in which the disruption occurred or until the 
end of the 39 week SAP period if that is sooner. There is no extension to AAL if disruption 
occurs with less than 8 weeks of the Leave remaining. 

13.0 Rights during all leave mentioned in this policy
During all leave associated with adoption as mentioned in this policy, all terms and 
conditions of the employee's contract, except normal pay, will continue. Salary will be 
replaced by any statutory pay if the employee is eligible for it.

This means that, while sums payable by way of salary will cease, all other benefits will 
remain in place. For example, holiday entitlement will continue to accrue, and pension 
contributions will continue to be paid during periods of leave. 

During all leave mentioned in this policy, employees will be entitled to the implied obligation of 
trust and confidence, and any terms and conditions of employment relating to:

 notice of termination;
 redundancy compensation; and
 disciplinary or grievance procedures.

Employees taking any leave mentioned in this policy will be bound by the implied obligation of 
good faith, and any terms and conditions of employment relating to:

 notice of termination;
 disclosure of confidential information;
 the acceptance of gifts or other benefits; and
 participation in any other business.

14.0 Contact and Keeping in Touch Days (KIT)
The council reserves the right to maintain reasonable contact with employees during all leave 
associated with adoption as mentioned in this policy. This may be to discuss employees' plans 
for return to work, to discuss any special arrangements to be made or training to be given to 
ease their return to work or to update them on developments at work during their absence.

Employees can agree to work for the council (or to attend training) for up to 10 days during 
their adoption leave without that work bringing their leave to an end and without loss of a 
week's statutory pay. These are known as "keeping-in-touch" days. Any work carried out on 
a day shall constitute a day's work for these purposes. 

18



APPENDIX 2

During Shared Parental Leave, an employee can agree to work for the council (or to attend 
training) for up to 20 days without that work bringing the period of his/her shared parental 
leave and pay to an end. These are known as "shared-parental-leave-in-touch" (SPLIT) 
days.  If the employee is entitled to receive statutory shared parental pay for any week 
during which they attend work for SPLIT days, they will still receive this in the usual way. In 
addition, the council will also pay for each hour that is worked during a SPLIT day at the rate 
of the employee’s hourly payment rate.

The Council has no right to require employees to carry out any work and employees have no 
right to undertake any work during their adoption or shared parental leave. Any work 
undertaken, and the amount of salary paid for any work done on keeping-in-touch days, is 
entirely a matter for agreement between employees and the Council.

Carrying out Election duties does not form part of the employee’s substantive role or contract 
of employment, and so cannot count as a KIT or SPLIT Days.

Managers may find it helpful to discuss with their employee arrangements for staying in touch 
with each other before the adoption leave starts. This may include agreement on the way in 
which contact will happen, how often, and who will initiate it. It could also cover the reasons 
for making contact and the types of issues which may be discussed. Reasonable contact will 
vary according to the employee, hence it is sensible to discuss this before the leave 
commences. 

15.0 Returning to Work
Returning to work after adoption leave
The employee may return to work at any time during ordinary adoption leave or additional 
adoption leave, provided that he/she gives the appropriate notification. Alternatively, the 
employee may take his/her full period of adoption leave entitlement and return to work at the 
end of this period. If the employee wishes to return before the full period of adoption leave has 
elapsed, he/she must give at least eight weeks' notice in writing to the Council of the date on 
which he/she intends to return.

Failure to return to work by the end of any leave will be treated as an unauthorised absence 
unless the employee is sick and produces a current medical certificate before the end of the 
leave period or unless the holiday has requested holiday which has been agreed.

If the employee decides during the leave that he/she does not wish to return to work, he/she 
should give written notice of resignation to the Council as soon as possible and in accordance 
with the terms of his/her contract of employment. If the notice period would expire after the 
leave has ended, the Council may require the employee to return to work for the remainder of 
the notice period.

The employee has the right to resume working in the same job if returning to work from 
ordinary adoption leave, ordinary paternity leave or shared parental leave if the period of leave, 
when added to any other period of shared parental leave, statutory adoption leave or statutory 
paternity leave taken by the employee in relation to the same child, totals 26 weeks or less. 

If the employee returns to work after a period of additional adoption leave, he/she is entitled 
to return either to the same job or, if this is not reasonably practicable, to another suitable job 
that is on terms and conditions not less favourable.

If the employee is returning to work from shared parental leave and the period of leave taken 
is more than 26 weeks, when added to any other period of shared parental leave, statutory 
adoption or paternity leave taken in relation to the same child, or was the last of two or more 
consecutive periods of statutory leave that included a period of ordinary parental leave of 
more than four weeks, or a period of additional adoption leave, the employee has the right to 
return to the same job unless this is not reasonably practicable. In these circumstances, if it 

19



APPENDIX 2

is not reasonably practicable for the Council to permit a return to the same job, the employee 
has the right to return to another job that is suitable and appropriate for him/her.

At the end of parental leave, the employee will be entitled to return to the same job, provided 
that the leave was for a period of four weeks or less (and did not follow on immediately from 
a period of additional adoption leave). If the period of parental leave was longer than four 
weeks (or followed on immediately from a period of additional adoption leave), then the 
employee will be entitled to return to the same job or, if that is not practicable, to a similar job 
that has the same or better status, terms and conditions as the previous job.

16.0 Redundancy during all leave mentioned in this policy
In the event that the employee’s post is affected by a proposed restructure or other situation 
through which their post may become at risk of redundancy during their leave, they should 
be consulted in accordance with the Managing Change Policy.  

Employees on leave shall be given first refusal on any suitable alternative vacancies that are 
appropriate to their skills. If the employee is offered a suitable alternative vacancy then they 
are entitled to a four week trial period in which to decide whether the employment is suitable.

17.0 Abbreviations used in this policy

Adoption Leave AdL

Statutory Adoption Pay SAP

Ordinary Adoption Leave OAL

Ordinary Paternity Leave OPL

Statutory Paternity Pay SPP

Statutory Sick Pay SSP

Shared Parental Leave SPL

Statutory Shared Parental Pay ShPP

Shared Parental Leave in touch Days SPLIT

Keeping in Touch Days KIT

Occupational Adoption Pay OAP

20



EMPLOYMENT COMMITTEE AGENDA ITEM No. 6

3 DECEMBER 2015 PUBLIC REPORT
This report contains an 
exempt Annex, not for 
publication, by virtue of 
Paragraph 4 of Schedule 
12A of Part 1 of the Local 
Government Act 1972.

Contact Officer(s): Mandy Pullen, Assistant Director Human 
Resources & Development

Tel. (01733) 863628

TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF SERVICE – AGENDA FOR CHANGE 

1. ORIGIN OF REPORT

1.1 This report follows discussions with trades unions at Joint Consultative Forum on 15 
October 2015 at which the above matter was discussed. 

1.2 Employment Committee is requested to determine the approach to Agenda for Change staff 
terms and conditions of service. The exempt annex to this report contains the information 
required by Employment Committee to determine the approach

2. REASONS FOR EXEMPTION 

2.1 The attached report is NOT FOR PUBLICATION in accordance with paragraph 4 of 
Schedule 12A of Part 1 of the Local Government Act 1972 in that it contains information 
relating to contemplated consultations or negotiations in connection with a labour relations 
matter arising between the authority and employees or office holders of the authority. The 
public interest test has been applied to the information contained within the exempt report 
and it is considered that the need to retain the information as exempt outweighs the public 
interest in disclosing it.

3. APPENDICES

 Appendix 1 – Exempt Report

21



This page is intentionally left blank

22



Document is Restricted

23

By virtue of paragraph(s) 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Meeting Held on 17 September 2015
	5 Changes to Employee Policies and Procedures
	5. Appendix 1 - Changes to Employee Policies and Procedures
	5. Appendix 2 - Changes to Employee Policies and Procedures

	6 Terms and Conditions of Service - Agenda for Change
	6. Terms and Conditions of Service - Agenda for Change (Exempt)


